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APPEARANCES

 
Dercresha A. Alexander, CEO, pro se, for Petitioner AnjeLink, Inc. 
 
William L. Gery, Esq.; Stephen Kong, Esq., Acting General Counsel, for Respondent Small 
Business Administration. 

 
DIGEST

 
To remain eligible for the 8(a) program, a participant must continue to meet all 8(a) eligibility 
requirements.  13 C.F.R. § 124.112(a).  A participant must submit to the SBA its business plan.  
13 C.F.R. §§ 124.112(b), 124.402(b).  When a participant fails to comply with this requirement, 
the SBA may terminate the participant from the program. 
 
When an 8(a) program participant fails to inform the SBA of a change of its address, and con-
sequently does not receive communications from the SBA requesting information, the 
participant cannot complain that it did not receive those requests. 
 
 

FINAL DECISION
 
ARKOW, Administrative Law Judge: 
 
 Petitioner AnjeLink, Inc. (Petitioner), appeals a decision by the Respondent Small 
Business Administration (SBA) terminating it from the 8(a) program.1  The SBA determined 
Petitioner failed to submit its completed business plan, a required submission for the 8(a) pro-
gram and, thus, Petitioner must be terminated.  Petitioner requests it not be terminated because it 

                                                 
 1  Small Business Act of 1958, § 8(a), as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 637(a); 13 C.F.R. Part 
124.  The purpose of section 8(a) is to “promote the business development of small business 
concerns owned and controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals so that 
such concerns can compete on an equal basis in the American economy.”  Small Business Act, 
§ 2(f)(2)(A), 15 U.S.C. § 631(f)(2)(A).  
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did not receive the termination notice, which the SBA had sent to Petitioner’s last known 
address.  Petitioner acknowledged that it did not inform the SBA of a change in its address.  I 
agree with the SBA and conclude the SBA’s decision terminating Petitioner from the 8(a) 
program is supported in the record, reasonable, and not arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law. 
 

Jurisdiction
 

 There is jurisdiction to decide this appeal.  See Small Business Act, § 8(a)(9)(A), (B)(ii); 
13 C.F.R. § 134.102(j)(1).  The appeal is timely.  See 13 C.F.R. § 134.202(a)(1). 
 

Issue 
 

 Whether the SBA’s termination of Petitioner AnjeLink, Inc., from the 8(a) program is 
arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.  See Small Business Act, § 8(a)(9)(C), 15 U.S.C. 
§ 637(a)(9)(C); 13 C.F.R. § 134.406(b). 
 

Facts 
 
 On June 1, 2005, Petitioner applied for the 8(a) program.  Administrative Record (AR), 
Ex. V.  Petitioner’s electronic 8(a) program application provided the address for its principal 
place of business as 540 Grant Ave., Suite C, Junction City, Kansas 66441-1312.  Id.  The 
application provided Petitioner’s business email address as alex@anjelink.com.  Id.   
 
 On June 30, 2005, Petitioner was admitted into the 8(a) program.  AR, Ex. U.  The 
certification letter informed Petitioner that it would work with a Business Development 
Specialist (BDS) in the SBA’s district office who would send her the business plan form (SBA 
Form 1010C), and that after SBA approves the business plan, Petitioner would be eligible to 
receive 8(a) contracts.  Id. 
 
 On July 8, 2005, Petitioner’s president, Dercresha A. Alexander, executed the 8(a) 
program Participation Agreement.  AR, Ex. T.  The Participation Agreement contains, among 
others, the following terms: 
 

I/we agree that my (our) firm may be terminated from the 8(a) program upon the 
occurrence of one or more of the following: 
 

a.  Failure by the concern to continue to maintain its eligibility for 
program participation. . . . 

f.  A demonstrated pattern of failing to make required submissions or 
responses to the Administration in a timely manner, including:. . . 
ii.  Failure by the concern to submit an updated business plan 

within 30 days of receipt of request, without an extension of 
time which has been approved by SBA. . . . 

Id. 
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 On August 16, 2005, the BDS at the SBA’s Wichita District Office (WDO) notified 
Petitioner’s owner by email that SBA had not received Petitioner’s business plan and business 
profile documents, forwarded another set of forms for these, and requested they be submitted by 
September 1st.  AR, Ex. S.  On September 1, 2005, the BDS again notified Petitioner’s owner by 
email that the business plan had not been submitted and requested it be submitted by September 
12, 2005.  AR, Ex. R.  The BDS received Petitioner’s business plan thereafter sometime in Sep-
tember 2005, reviewed it and found it was incomplete, and returned it to Petitioner on October 4, 
2005, requesting it be completed and submitted by November 4, 2005.  AR, Ex. F. 
 
 On November 8, 2005, the BDS sent a letter to Petitioner’s business address stating SBA 
had received Petitioner’s amended business plan on November 3, 2005,2 but that there were 
several incomplete items that were being returned for completion.  AR, Ex. O.  The letter 
recommended Petitioner consult with a named individual at Washburn University for help with 
the financial aspects of the business plan.  Id.    
 
 On December 1, 2005, Petitioner’s owner sent an email to the BDS stating she had 
consulted with the individual at Washburn University, but that she needed operating projection 
worksheets to complete the financial report.  AR, Ex. N.  A handwritten note on the email 
indicated SBA mailed the worksheets that same day.  Id. 
 
 On April 5, 2006, the BDS sent Petitioner’s owner an email stating the business plan was 
still not complete and recapping the follow-up correspondence: 
 

Ms. Alexander: Your firm was accepted into the 8(a) Program on 6/30/05.  One of the 
requirements of participation is the submission of a business plan and approval of the 
business plan by the SBA.  As you know we have not been able to approve your 
business plan because you have not completed the financial projection portion of the 
plan.  This was pointed out to you in a letter dated 10-4-05 from our office and 
another letter dated 11-8-05.  You responded with an e-mail dated 12-1-05 requesting 
we forward you the operating projection worksheets, which were mailed to you the 
same day.  As of today, I have not received the projected operating statement.   

 
AR, Ex. M.3  Next, the BDS warned Petitioner that failure to provide required submissions or 
responses is good cause for termination from the 8(a) program and noted Petitioner’s business 
plan, due on or before July 30, 2005, was not received by SBA until November 3, 2005, and then 
it was incomplete.  Id.  Finally, the BDS suggested Petitioner should withdraw from the 8(a) 
program voluntarily and stated it was “imperative” to hear from Ms. Alexander by April 7, 2006, 
“or I will start the proceedings for involuntary withdrawal.”  Id.  

 
 2  The Administrative Record contains two incomplete, undated business plans on SBA 
Form 1010C.  AR, Ex. P, Q. 
 3  The BDS’s October 4, 2005, letter is not in the record; however, it is mentioned in the 
BDS’s April 5, 2006, email and in his April 21, 2006, internal memorandum.  See AR, Ex. M, F. 
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 On April 10, 2006, the BDS sent to Petitioner’s owner, by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, a letter and a voluntary withdrawal form.  AR, Ex. L.  The record contains a copy of 
the envelope in which the letter was mailed and a copy of the Postal Service (PS) Form 3800, 
Certified Mail Receipt.  AR, Ex. K.  Both the envelope and the PS Form 3800 state Petitioner’s 
address as “540 Grand Avenue, Suite C, Junction City, KS 66441.”  Id.  The letter was returned 
to the WDO marked “Return to sender / Not deliverable as addressed / Unable to forward.”  Id.  
The WDO received the returned letter on April 17, 2006.  Id.  
 
 The BDS also called the Petitioner’s business number and found it had been 
disconnected.  Petitioner called the BDS after business hours on April 13, 2006, and left her a 
voice mail stating Petitioner was not interested in voluntary withdrawal and would have the 
documents in to SBA by April 19, 2006.  AR, Ex. F. 
 
 On April 17, 2006, the BDS sent an email to Petitioner’s owner noting he had received a 
voice mail from her that day and that the voluntary withdrawal form he had sent to her by 
certified mail on April 10, 2006, was returned to him as undeliverable.  AR, Ex. J.  The BDS 
further stated: 
 

It is extremely important that you e-mail or phone me with your new business 
address and phone #.  In your voice mail you state you are agreeable to completing 
the business plan’s financial projections and statement of representatives and 
forwarding it them [sic] to me no later than 4-19-06.  I am agreeable to this also as 
long as they are here by  4-19-06. 

 
Id.  Also on April 19, 2006, in addition to the email, the BDS left a voice-mail message on 
Petitioner’s cell phone.  AR, Ex. F. 
 
 On April 20, 2006, the BDS sent another email to Petitioner’s owner stating: 
 

You have not returned my calls, forwarded me the updated financial projections to 
complete your business plan or the Statement of Representatives as promised in the 
voice mail you left me last week on 4-14-06.  You have not forwarded me your new 
business address or new business phone #.  You leave me no choice but to start the 
involuntary de-certification process. 

 
AR, Ex. I. 
 
 On April 21, 2006, the BDS sent to Petitioner’s owner, by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, another letter, titled “2nd Request.”  AR, Ex. G.  This letter noted Petitioner has not 
completed an acceptable business plan in the over nine months since its acceptance into the 8(a) 
program, and enclosed another voluntary withdrawal form.  Id.   
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 The record contains a copy of the envelope in which the April 21, 2006, letter was 
mailed, including a copy of the PS Form 3800.  AR, Ex. H.  The PS Form 3800 states 
Petitioner’s address as “540 Grant Ave., Suite C, Junction City, KS 66441.”  Id.  The letter was 
returned to the WDO marked “Return to sender / Unclaimed / Unable to forward.”  Id.  The 
WDO received the returned letter on May 12, 2006.  Id.  
 
 Also on April 21, 2006, the BDS recommended Petitioner’s termination in a 
memorandum to other SBA officials.  This memorandum also recapped the attempts the BDS 
had made to date to contact Petitioner’s owner.  AR, Ex. F. 
 

SBA Determinations
 
 On July 17, 2006, the SBA’s Office of Certification and Eligibility, in San Francisco, 
notified Petitioner by certified mail, return receipt requested, that it intended to terminate it from 
the 8(a) program.  AR, Ex. C (Intent Letter).  The SBA cited as the reasons for the proposed 
termination: (1) failure by Petitioner to maintain its program eligibility, in violation of 13 C.F.R. 
§ 124.303(a)(2); (2) a pattern of failure by Petitioner to make required submissions or responses 
to the SBA in a timely manner, including a failure to provide requested documents, in violation 
of 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(7); and (3) Petitioner’s material breach of the terms and conditions of 
its 8(a) program Participation Agreement, in violation of 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(19).  Id.   
 

The Intent Letter advised Petitioner that SBA had sent Petitioner a letter by certified mail 
(return receipt requested) on April 10, 2006, requesting its business plan and the letter was 
returned as undeliverable.  Id.  The SBA warned Petitioner that if it did not respond to the Intent 
Letter within 30 days, and provide the SBA with information that would eliminate the grounds 
for the proposed termination, there would be a recommendation that Petitioner be terminated 
from the 8(a) program.  Id.   

 
 The record contains a copy of the envelope in which the Intent Letter was mailed.  AR, 
Ex. D.  The envelope states Petitioner’s address as “540 Grant Ave., Ste. C, Junction City, KS 
66441.”  Id.  The letter was returned marked “Unable to forward / No forward order on file / 
Return to postmaster of addressee for review.”  Id. 

 
 On September 9, 2006, the SBA’s Associate Administrator for Business Development 
(AA/BD) in Washington, D.C., terminated Petitioner from the 8(a) program.  AR, Ex. A 
(Termination Letter).  The SBA advised Petitioner that it had not received a response to the 
Intent Letter, and thus Petitioner had not overcome the proposed grounds for termination.  Id.  It 
cited the same grounds for termination as the Intent Letter.  Id.  The letter stated that the Intent 
Letter was sent to the last known business address of Petitioner on file with the SBA.  Id. 
 
 Petitioner appealed its termination from the 8(a) program on November 8, 2006.  Appeal 
Petition (App. Pet.). 
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Petitioner’s Position
 
 Petitioner requests that it be allowed to continue in the 8(a) program.  It states that: 
 

On or about November 2, 2006 I made a phone call to my regional office and was 
informed that Anjelik, Inc. was involuntarily terminated from the 8a program.  I 
have not received a termination notice in writing.  I did move offices and had not 
yet gotten around to updating my information on the CCR [Central Contractor 
Registration] or other agencies. 
 

App. Pet.  
 

Respondent’s Position
 
 The SBA contends that its termination of Petitioner from the 8(a) program is not 
arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law and should be upheld.  It argues that Petitioner failed to 
respond to each of the SBA’s requests to complete the initial step of filing a complete business 
plan.  Therefore, because Petitioner was given numerous opportunities to comply with the 
business plan requirement, and either ignored these opportunities altogether or submitted 
incomplete documents, Petitioner has established a clear pattern of failure to make required 
submissions, has failed to maintain its program eligibility, and has breached the 8(a) program 
Participation Agreement.  Further, Petitioner did not respond to the SBA’s Intent Letter.  Thus, 
Petitioner did not overcome the SBA’s allegations that it had good cause to terminate Petitioner.  
SBA Response. 
 

Discussion 
 

I.  Standard of Review 
 
 The SBA determination must be sustained unless a review of the written administrative 
record demonstrates that the SBA’s determination, that Petitioner should be terminated from the 
8(a) program, is arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law.  See 13 C.F.R. § 134.406(a), (b).  My 
review of the administrative record is narrow and does not permit me to substitute my own 
judgment for that of the SBA.  I must examine whether the SBA considered all of the facts 
presented, as well as the laws and regulations that guide the decision-making process.  Then, I 
must determine that the SBA made a clear error of judgment in its decision before I may find the 
SBA acted arbitrarily, capriciously, or contrary to law.  See Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of the 
United States, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). 
 
 A clear error of judgment may be found if the SBA (1) fails to properly apply the law and 
regulations to the facts of the case, (2) fails to consider an important aspect of the problem, 
(3) offers an explanation for its determination that runs contrary to the evidence, or (4) provides 
an implausible explanation that is more than a difference between my views and those of the 
SBA.  In sum, the SBA must articulate a reasonable explanation for its action, including a 
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rational connection between the facts found and its determination.  See id.  As long as the SBA 
determination is reasonable, it must be upheld on appeal.  13 C.F.R. § 134.406(b).  Further, the 
SBA must follow its established procedures and afford Petitioner due process of law. 

 
II.  Termination Requirement 

 
 The SBA may terminate an 8(a) program participant prior to completion of its program 
term for good cause.  13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a).  The SBA alleges that it has good cause to ter-
minate Petitioner.  Good cause includes: (1) failure to maintain program eligibility, in violation 
of 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(2); (2) a pattern of failure to make required submissions or responses 
to the SBA in a timely manner, including a failure to provide an updated business plan, in 
violation of 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(7); and (3) a material breach of the terms and conditions of 
the 8(a) program Participation Agreement, in violation of 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(19).   
 

III.  Analysis 
 

A. 
 
 The regulations governing the 8(a) program require: 
 

Submission of initial business plan.  Each Participant must submit a business plan to 
its SBA servicing office as soon as possible after program admission.  The Partici-
pant will not be eligible for 8(a) BD program benefits, including 8(a) contracts, until 
SBA approves its business plan. 

 
13 C.F.R. § 124.402(b).  Petitioner repeatedly failed to make the required submission of a 
complete initial business plan.  
  

  In its Participation Agreement, Petitioner’s owner agreed that Petitioner may be 
terminated from the 8(a) program upon a demonstrated pattern of failure to make timely required 
submissions or responses to the SBA including failure to submit an updated business plan within 
30 days of receipt of request, without an SBA-approved extension of time.  AR, Ex. T.  Thus, the 
SBA also may terminate Petitioner, based on these facts, for the additional reason of breach of its 
Participation Agreement.   

 
 The record shows the WDO’s numerous attempts to provide formal and informal 
opportunities to Petitioner to satisfy the initial requirement of providing the SBA with an 
adequate business plan.  See Facts, supra. 
 
 Notably, on April 10, 2006, and April 21, 2006, the SBA requested Petitioner complete 
its firm’s business plan.  AR, Ex. L, G.  The requests were sent by certified mail (return receipt 
requested).  Id.  These letters were returned to the SBA because they were undeliverable as 
addressed and, since there was no forwarding address, could not be forwarded by the U.S. Postal 
Service.  AR, Ex. K, H.   
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 Petitioner failed to respond to two requests from the SBA for a copy of its business plan.  
Further, Petitioner failed to respond to the SBA’s Intent Letter advising Petitioner that it had 
failed to respond to the SBA’s earlier letters and that it did not submit its business plan.  In its 
appeal petition, Petitioner states it did not receive either the Intent Letter or the Termination 
Letter because it failed to keep the SBA informed of its current address.  Thus, Petitioner’s 
negligence led to its failure to receive and respond to the SBA’s letters.  In spite of this, 
Petitioner was aware of its deficient business plan and its failure to correct the deficiencies.  Yet 
it failed to do so. 
 
 Because Petitioner did not respond to the SBA’s requests for a complete, correct business 
plan, the SBA could not determine whether Petitioner remained eligible for the 8(a) program.  In 
order for an 8(a) program participant to remain in the program, it must continue to meet all 8(a) 
eligibility requirements.  13 C.F.R. § 124.112(a).  Participants must annually submit to the SBA 
a certification of continued eligibility and submit certain documents, including a business plan.  
13 C.F.R. §§ 124.112(b)(8), 124.402-403.  Petitioner failed to comply with this requirement.  
This failure provided the SBA three grounds for Petitioner’s termination from the 8(a) program:  
(1) failure to make required submissions to the SBA, (2) failure to maintain program eligibility, 
and (3) breach of the terms and conditions of the 8(a) program Participation Agreement.  The 
repeated failures to reply in this case amount to a pattern of failure to make required submissions 
or responses to the SBA.  13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(7).  Thus, the SBA acted reasonably in 
terminating Petitioner from the 8(a) program. 
 

B. 
  
 The SBA has an affirmative responsibility to enforce the regulations governing the 8(a) 
program.  These regulations are designed to ensure that only eligible business concerns are 
admitted into and remain in the program.  This ensures that public funds are administered as 
intended by the Small Business Act, that is, only small businesses owned, controlled, and 
managed by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals receive the benefits of the 
program.  This requires the SBA to rigorously and reasonably enforce 8(a) program 
requirements.  Failure to do so would be a breach of the public trust. 
 
 Likewise, as recipients of the benefits of the 8(a) program, participants must comply 
timely with the SBA’s regulations.  These include the requirement to timely respond to the 
SBA’s requests for information, including an initial business plan, 13 C.F.R. § 124.402, and an 
annual update or modification to its business plan, 13 C.F.R. § 124.403.  This is necessary so the 
SBA can carry out its responsibility to protect the public’s interest.   
 
 A participant’s failure to abide by the SBA’s regulations justifies the initiation of a 
termination proceeding.  Matter of Taycom Business Solutions, Inc., SBA No. BDP-228 (2006); 
Matter of Fairfield Trucking Company, SBA No. BDP-223 (2006).  Even so, in proposing termi-
nation, the SBA provided Petitioner with an additional opportunity to present information that 
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would eliminate the grounds for the proposed termination—one last chance for Petitioner to 
demonstrate it met the SBA’s requirements.  
 

C. 
 
 Here, Petitioner was in ongoing discussions with the SBA concerning its incomplete 
business plan, but was unable to satisfactorily provide the SBA a business plan that met 8(a) 
program requirements.  After informal attempts failed, the SBA formally requested, by mail, that 
Petitioner comply.  Petitioner, through its own carelessness, (1) failed to advise the SBA of its 
change of address, and (2) failed to provide the post office with a request to forward its mail to 
its new address.  Although SBA’s regulations do not mandate that program participants advise 
the SBA of a change of address, that is a common-sense requirement.  The consequences of 
Petitioner’s dereliction, the failure to receive vital communications from the SBA, rests solely on 
Petitioner’s shoulders.  Petitioner cannot now complain that it did not receive SBA’s requests. 
 
 The SBA reasonably expected Petitioner to respond to its requests.  Petitioner acted 
unreasonably by failing to do so.  Accordingly, the SBA’s conclusion that Petitioner (a) violated 
13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(7) by its demonstrated pattern of failure to make required submissions or 
responses to the SBA in a timely manner; (2) violated 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(2) by its failure to 
maintain its program eligibility; and (3) violated 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(19) by its material 
breach of the terms and conditions of its 8(a) program Participation Agreement is reasonable.  
Therefore, the SBA’s decision to terminate Petitioner is reasonable and not arbitrary, capricious, 
or contrary to law. 
 

Conclusion 
 
 Respondent Small Business Administration’s decision terminating Petitioner AnjeLink, 
Inc., from the 8(a) program is NOT ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, OR CONTRARY TO LAW.  
See Small Business Act, § 8(a)(9)(C), 15 U.S.C. § 637(a)(9)(C); 13 C.F.R. § 134.406(b). 
 
 Subject to 13 C.F.R. § 134.409(c), this is the final decision of the Small Business 
Administration.  See Small Business Act, § 8(a)(9)(D), 15 U.S.C. § 637(a)(9)(D); 13 C.F.R. 
§ 134.409(a). 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
         RICHARD S. ARKOW 
         Administrative Law Judge 


